IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 15 1988

JAMES MICHAEL MACK,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 71,099

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fla. 32014 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 9, 1987, the Spring Term Grand Jury in and for Volusia County, Florida, indicted James Michael Mack for the first degree murder of Mary Eberhart. The grand jury also indicted Mack for one count of burglary of a dwelling, one count of robbery, and one count of sexual battery. (R783-784)

On April 2, 1987, the State of Florida filed a motion to consolidate Mack's case with that of co-defendant Robert Dewayne North, Jr., Case No. 86-3910-A. (R805-806) On May 15, 1987, the trial court rendered an order denying the state's motion to consolidate. (R809)

On June 9, 1987, Mack's trial counsel filed a motion for transcription of testimony or proceedings of the jury trial of Robert North held the week of May 26, 1987. (R810) On June 17, 1987, after a hearing, the trial court granted the motion as to the transcription of the testimony of all state witnesses but

denied transcription as to all other facets of Robert North's trial. (R811-812,958-974)

On July 2, 1987, Appellant filed a motion for individual voire dire and sequestration of jurors during voire dire.

(R818-819) On that same date, Appellant filed a motion in limine regarding the state calling Robert North as a witness. (R820-822) Following a hearing on July 7, 1987, the trial court denied the motion in limine. The trial court granted the motion for individual voire dire concerning pre-trial publicity but denied the motion concerning death qualification of the jury. (R824-825,975-990)

This cause proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Edwin P.B. Sanders, Seventh Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Volusia County. (R1-723)

During jury selection, the trial court sustained the state's objection to James Mack personally questioning the venire. (R28-29,45)

The trial court overruled Appellant's objections and allowed the state to introduce certain photographs of the victim. (R288-294)

Over Appellant's objection, the trial court allowed a state witness to testify concerning the value of certain property. (R496)

At the close of the state's case-in-chief, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal. The trial court granted the motion as to the charge of sexual battery but denied the motion as to each of the other three charges. (R636-643) Appellant

presented four witnesses during the defense case-in-chief.

(R550-607) The trial court denied Appellant's attempt to introduce the verdict and judgment of Robert North, Appellant's co-defendant. (R647-648) After Appellant rested, the trial court denied Appellant's renewal of the motion for judgments of acquittal. (R647)

Appellant's defense counsel waived jury instructions as to all lesser included offenses. Defense counsel did this in chambers without the presence of James Mack. (R693)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty on each of the three remaining counts. (R719-720,912-913,915)

On July 25, 1987, this cause proceeded to a bifurcated penalty phase. (R726-781) During this proceeding the Appellant sought to introduce evidence that another jury, in a separate proceeding, recommended that Robert North, Appellant's co-defendant, be sentenced to life in prison. The trial court rebuffed Appellant's attempts in this regard. (R753-755)

The state presented the testimony of three witnesses at the penalty phase. (R727-743) The Appellant presented the testimony of Mack's step-grandmother and the testimony of Jody Tipton, a friend. (R743-756) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a majority of ten recommending that the trial court sentence James Mack to death. (R775-778,916)

The state prepared a sentencing guidelines scoresheet for the non-capital offenses. The scoresheet resulted in a recommended guideline sentence of seven to nine years in state

prison. (R928) The trial court adjudicated James Mack guilty of each of the three offenses. (R929-930) The trial court sentenced James Mack to fifteen years in prison for the robbery. The trial court also sentenced Mack to a concurrent fifteen year period of incarceration for the burglary. The trial court allowed credit for 352 days previously served, but ordered that both of these sentences run consecutive to the sentence imposed for the first degree murder. The trial court orally stated that it imposed the departure sentence based on the fact that Mack was concurrently found guilty of first degree, premeditated murder which was not scored. (R951)

The trial court sentenced James Michael Mack to death on that offense. (R933,949-950) The trial court filed written findings of fact in support of the death penalty wherein the judge found five aggravating circumstances and rejected all mitigating circumstances. The trial court found that the capital crime was committed while James Mack was under sentence of imprisonment; that Mack was previously convicted of another felony involving the use and threat of violence; that the murder was committed during the commission of a burglary; that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; and that the murder was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel. (R917-918)

On September 3, 1987, Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (R936) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

Allen Aslinger and Robert Dwayne North were good friends and housemates. Aslinger dated the daughter of Joyce Sharps, North's girlfriend. (R431-433,435) During the afternoon hours of August 10, 1986, Aslinger and North took Aslinger's car and went out to "drink and party". (R434) The pair consumed a large quantity of alcohol throughout the day. (R467) The pair returned home briefly before venturing out again that evening to continue their carousing. They arrived at the American Room, a popular night spot in Deland, where they stayed through the shank of the evening. (R434-435) Aslinger incorrectly combined his intoxicants resulting in his adjournment to the parking lot where he passed out in the back seat of his car. (R435-436) Aslinger estimated that he regained consciousness between 5:00 and 6:00 North and another man sat in the front seat of the car. Apparently, North had driven the car to a different location while Aslinger slept. Aslinger identified James Mack, the Appellant, as the passenger in the front seat with North. was Aslinger's first encounter with Mack. (R437-438)

Since he had been asleep during the drive, Aslinger was not sure of the group's new location. (R439-440) North gave Aslinger some money and instructed him to drive away but to return shortly. (R443) North and Mack got out of the car and walked down the road as Aslinger drove away. (R444) Aslinger drove a short distance before he recognized the vicinity. He considered forsaking his promise to return but feared North's

wrath. The sun was just beginning to rise when Aslinger returned to the spot where he had dropped off North and Mack approximately thirty minutes earlier. (R443-446) Although Aslinger had driven North to the victim's house in the past, Aslinger was not sure where the house was located in relation to the spot where he regained consciousness. (R447,468)

Aslinger spotted North and Mack walking down the road toward the prearranged destination. Aslinger noticed that North and Mack were carrying a blanket and a shoe box but could not remember who had which. (R446) The pair got into the back seat and requested a ride to Highway 11. (R446) Along the way, the trio stopped at a convenience store where North purchased some beer. While Aslinger and North went into the store, Mack used the phone outside. (R447) The trio then went to a nearby gas station where North bought a small amount of gas for Aslinger's car. North also purchased a six-pack of beer. (R448) then got back into the car and left the Gate Station at approximately 6:30 a.m. They drove north on State Road 17-92 for a couple of miles. North and Mack were passing jewelry back and forth in an attempt to determine its authenticity. Aslinger noticed a ring with two to three rows of diamonds as well as a man's wedding band. He also noticed a couple of ladies' rings and some necklaces. North and Mack threw several pieces of costume jewelry out of the car window. This procedure continued for approximately twelve miles. The group then took Highway 11 to Reynolds Road until they reached DeLeon Springs. They proceeded North on 17-92 to Spring Garden Ranch Road where they

turned right. They took Reynolds Road again back to Highway 11 thus completing a large geographical loop. (R449-452) They eventually arrived at Highlands Fish Camp Park near the St. Johns River. (R452-453) The trip from the Gate Station to the fishing camp had taken approximately thirty minutes. (R453) Once they reached the camp, they cleaned out the car and burned the garbage, beer cans, blanket and shoe box. (R453-454) They also burned a small metal jewelry box with a felt covering. (R454-455) They threw the remaining unburned metal portion into the river. (R455)

Aslinger noticed that North did not show any emotion, while Mack acted somewhat nervous. (R454) North and Mack whispered to each other during the burning. (R456) At one point Mack asked North if North thought that they should tell Aslinger. (R456) North stated that he had killed someone. (R474) Mack warned Aslinger that he could end up the same way. Aslinger believed that Mack was trying to scare him so that he would not go to the police. (R457) Aslinger noticed a scratch down the center of Mack's throat. When Aslinger inquired, Mack allegedly told Aslinger that, if anyone asked, Aslinger should say that North and Mack had been wrestling. (R457) Aslinger admitted that this could have been the truth. (R472-473) Subsequent evidence indicated that Mack sustained the scratch while playing with his kids the day before. (R591-606)

Since North needed to see his probation officer, the group went back to Deland and arrived at the probation office at approximately 8:00 a.m. (R458) While North met with his

probation officer, Mack got into the front seat and attempted to rub the inscription from inside one of the rings. Aslinger and Mack started out for the nearby Gold and Silver Exchange, before they thought better of it and returned to pick up North. (R459) Mack returned to the back seat and North got into the front seat. (R459)

Pursuant to North's request, the trio then went to the home of Bobby Lee, a long-time family friend whom North referred to as his uncle. (R459-460,476-477) North frequently used Lee to pawn items for cash. (R477) North introduced Mack to Lee. (R479-480) North pawned a plain gold band to Lee for forty dollars. (R478-479) Mack offered to sell Lee a gold, man's ring with four bars of diamonds (approximately sixteen diamonds in all) for three thousand dollars. Lee estimated the ring's value to be between eight and nine thousand dollars. Lee picked up the ring with a stick so that he would not leave any fingerprints. He eventually declined to buy the ring. (R480-482)

After leaving Bobby Lee's house, North, Mack and Aslinger drove to John's Drive-in Liquors and discussed buying a bottle. They went to another gas station where North bought Aslinger ten dollars worth of gas and some soft drinks. (R461) The trio then proceeded to Mack's father's house on Voorhis Avenue. (R462) At the house, Aslinger made Mack remove the jewelry from Aslinger's car. Mack complied and threw the bag of jewelry underneath some trees in the yard. (R462) After a short stop, the trio drove to Hamm's Bar in Deland where Aslinger

dropped off North and Mack. (R462-463) At Hamm's, they would soon encounter Karen Campbell.

Karen Campbell, a resident of Astor, came to Deland on August 11, 1986, for a day of shopping with her husband. Perhaps coincidently, Campbell wore a ring with three rows of diamonds at Mack's trial. (R516) At approximately 11:00 a.m., Karen and her husband stopped at Teet's Bar for a drink where they met some friends, and the day quickly degenerated into a drinking binge. Campbell admitted that she was drunk most of that day. She admitted that she did not drink often and was not good at keeping track of time when she did. (R488-490) During Campbell's day of bar-hopping, she encountered her friend Robert North, at Hamm's Bar. Mack accompanied North. Candy Croker, a friend of Campbell's, introduced Mack to Karen Campbell. (R485-493) Campbell and her husband both developed an aversion to James Mack as the afternoon wore on. (R501-502,537-538,579)

Mack showed Campbell a white-gold ring with a missing gem stone. Mack stated that it had belonged to a relative and that he wished to sell it. Campbell expressed no interest in buying that particular ring. (R493-494) Mack showed Campbell a second ring that appeared to be a large man's ring with three rows of stones that appeared to be diamonds. There were approximately five stones in each row. (R495) Campbell testified that Mack offered several explanations as to his acquisition of the ring, none of them consistent. (R495) Karen's husband, Donald, did not hear these inconsistencies. (R468) North and Mack alternated possession of the ring throughout the afternoon, but

Campbell did not remember North displaying the ring to anyone in the bar. Campbell testified that Mack showed the ring to her and several others in the bar. (R495-496) Campbell continued negotiations to buy the ring throughout the afternoon. The ring was worth approximately two to three hundred dollars to Campbell She estimated that it was worth at if her husband liked it. least that and possibly much more on the open market. (R496-497) Negotiations continued after Campbell's husband expressed interest in the ring. When the price reached \$150.00, Campbell and her husband decided to purchase the ring. (R497-499) Campbell left for their home in Astor to retrieve the necessary (R499-500) Karen Campbell and Mack continued to haggle. cash. (R501) Mack continued to show the ring to others in the bar. (R500).

Throughout the negotiations, Campbell and Mack continued to drink. Campbell believed that Mack was intoxicated.

(R501) At one point during the negotiations, Campbell felt badgered by Mack concerning the price. She responded by hitting Mack. (R501-502) Campell also testified that during the negotiations, Mack stated simply that he had killed an old woman for the ring without stating any further details. (R502-503) Donald Campbell did not hear this admission. (R568) Karen was skeptical about Mack's boast. (R502-503) When she became convinced that the statement was true, she slapped Mack. She testified that the slap resulted from her abhorrence of violence. Mack asked if she would like a better shot at him as he stood up. She responded

with another slap. (R504) Campbell also resented Mack's low opinion of one of her former lovers. (R537-538)

At another point during the negotiations, Campbell snatched the ring without Mack noticing. (R505) Since she was wearing a denim skirt without pockets, Karen slipped into the ladies' room and hid the ring inside her vagina. (R506,520) Karen intended to secure the ring before reporting the matter to the police. (R503-531) Karen did not intend to pay for jewelry that the police would not let her keep. Unfortunately, she never seemed to find the time to call the police to inform them that she had purloined some critical evidence. (R508-509,531)

When Mack discovered that the ring was missing, he emptied his pockets in a frantic search. Mack met with no success when he asked North if he had the ring. (R506) Mack and North argued, blaming each other for the loss. (R507-508) Mack then confronted Karen who denied taking the ring. Mack became agitated and asked other patrons to empty their pockets. The management eventually asked Mack to leave the bar as a result of his non-physical excitement. (R507)

At some point during the afternoon, Karen Campbell advised her friend, Robert North, to turn himself in to the police. North was distraught that afternoon as he recalled his own mother's murder. Karen attempted to console North. (R515-516) She gave North a quarter and urged him to call the police. North eventually used the phone and then left the bar. (R509-510) Karen was not sure if she saw North again that day. (R509-510)

Investigator J.D. Brown of the Deland Police Department had known Robert North for almost ten years. Brown had arrested North once or twice in the past. Brown and North had a good rapport. At approximately five o'clock p.m. on August 11, 1986, Robert North called Investigator Brown at Brown's office.

Following a short conversation, Brown met North behind a Deland restaurant. North had what Brown considered could be important information. However, since North had been drinking, Brown was skeptical. (R274-280) Investigator Brown enlisted the aid of John Bradley, another investigator, and the pair talked further with North. Following North's instructions, the three men drove to 815 South Montgomery. North knew the victim, having done yard work for her several times in the past. Eberhart paid North for the work by check. (R344-345,447,468)

As the trio approached the house by car, Brown observed that North became noticeably nervous and talkative. (R280-282)

After receiving no response at the front door, the three men went to the back corner of the house. (R282) Brown entered the back door which was ajar, while Bradley and North remained outside.

(R284-285) North remained outside during the investigation.

(R309-313) The interior of the house seemed to be in order, until Brown reached the bedroom in the northeast corner. That particular room appeared to be in substantial disarray. (R285-287) Brown spotted the body of Mary Eberhart situated on the bed with her head hanging over the side. Brown noticed blood on the floor. (R288-297) Brown left the house without touching anything. Brown notified the Volusia County Sheriff's Office once

he determined that the house was located in the Deland city limits. (R299) Brown and Bradley turned Robert North and the investigation over to the deputies who arrived at the house shortly thereafter. (R300-301)

Pursuant to a request by Captain Carroll of the Volusia County Sheriff's Office, Investigator Brown and Investigator Nibler, also of the Deland Police Department, went to a downtown bar in an attempt to locate a white female who allegedly was offered some jewelry to buy. (R301-302) They found Karen Campbell at Teet's Bar. Brown and Nibler talked to Karen and Donald Campbell briefly outside the bar. Donald Campbell drew a picture of the ring that North and Mack had in the bar that (R510) After the Campbells related the events of that day, the police informed the Campbells that they would need to come downtown. (R510-511) At that point in time, Karen Campbell still believed that she had the ring in its safe hiding place. However, during a trip to the ladies' room at Teet's Bar, she discovered that, although she had taken the precaution of wearing underwear, the ring had mysteriously disappeared.

Karen Campbell went to the police station that evening. She testified at trial that she was unable to give any information that evening due to her state of intoxication and emotional state. Additionally, she associated unpleasant memories with the police station, since it reminded her of a rape that she had suffered ten years previously. (R512-514) She left the police station that night without giving a statement.

Karen Campbell returned to her home that evening. She went to bed without looking further for the ring. The next day, she examined herself but still could not find the ring. Her husband searched as well with no success. (R434-436) A subsequent trip to her gynecologist also failed to net the ring. (R536-537) Interestingly, Karen Campbell wore a ring with three rows of diamonds while she testified at Mack's trial. (R516)

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