IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES MICHAEL MACK,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 71,099

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SID J. VAHUE

AUG 17 1983

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENIH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SEAN DALY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee accepts the appellant's factual statement and addresses the relevant facts where appropriate in the argument herein; however, the state does take issue with Mack's assertion that his co-defendant, North "stated that he had killed someone. (R 474)" (AB 7)¹ The record reveals that North's statement was to the effect that "they killed somebody". Only Mack stated that "he" had killed the victim (R 502-503).

¹⁽R) refers to the record on appeal. (AB) refers
to the appellant's initial brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: Defense counsel's waiver of lesser included offenses on behalf of his client does not justify reversal. The issue has not been preserved for appellate review and no fundamental error has been shown. There has been no demonstration that any <u>substantive</u> error even occurred given the clear record evidence that defense counsel, as represented to the state and trial court, discussed the waiver with Mack who then personally decided to forego lesser included offense instructions through his counsel in an "all or nothing" strategy.

Mere speculation as to actual prejudicial/harmful, as opposed to procedural, error should not justify reversal especially given the adequate and appropriate relief available through post-conviction motion. The appellant should not be allowed to profit from an alleged error of his creation and this court should revisit and reconsider its decision in <u>Harris</u> v. State, 438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983).

POINT II: The sentencing judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing to admit, as irrelevant, evidence of the jury recommendation of life imprisonment in the separate trial of co-defendant North. That advisory recommendation was not a sentence; was not relevant to Mack's character; and was obviously based on evidence and circumstances different from that presented at Mack's trial and sentencing hearing.

POINT III: The sentencing court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting as inapplicable the statutory mitigating factors argued and in determining that the statutory aggravating circumstances found <u>far</u> outweighed any nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. The sentencing order adequately outlines the rationale for the court's decision to follow the 10-2 jury recommendation of death.

There is no evidentiary basis for finding that Mack was under emotional distress, domination, or otherwise unable to conform his conduct to the law when the murder occurred; nor did the lower court abuse its discretion in finding five aggravating circumstances (two of which are not challenged on appeal). Mack was under "sentence of imprisonment" - as conceded by trial counsel - although on a supervised community release program. The late night burglary of the victim's home and brutal stabbing accompanied by almost certain terror and fear of impending death as the elderly woman defended herself supports a finding that the killing was heinous, atrocious or cruel. No improper doubling of the burglary and pecuniary gain aggravating circumstances has been demonstrated especially given the other surrounding circumstances, including the brutal beating inflicted, which demonstrate the "broader purpose" of the burglary perpetrated.

POINT IV: The trial court's orally stated rationale for departing from the recommended guidelines sentence for the non-capital offenses (i.e., that there was an unscored capital felony) has been specifically validated by this court and should be deemed sufficient under the circumstances of this case, notwithstanding State v. Jackson, 478 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1985).

POINT V: As conceded by the appellant the various constitutional challenges to Florida's death penalty statute and procedure have already been rejected. Furthermore, these arguments have not been preserved for appellate review.

POINT I

THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW HIS CHALLENGE TO THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT UPON NECESSARILY LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSES BASED UPON THE SPECIFIC REQUEST OF TRIAL COUNSEL ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLANT; THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ACTUAL REVERSIBLE ERROR.

a. The issue was not properly preserved for appellate review.

Mack contends that because there were no lesser-included offense instructions to the offenses charged, including the first degree murder, his conviction must <u>automatically</u> be reversed for a new trial despite the fact that defense counsel, acting on Mack's behalf, on the record (after an unrecorded jury charge conference) specifically waived all lesser-included offenses; specifically indicated that he had no objections to the jury instructions contemplated by the trial court; and raised no objection to the jury instructions as read, despite being given the specific opportunity to do so (R 648, 693, 718). The state disagrees.

This court in a continuous and unswerving line of decisions, left undisturbed by the holding in <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 787, 795-797 (Fla. 1983) upon which the appellant relies, has held that a defendant must make a proper request for jury instructions or raise a specific and contemporaneous objection to the failure to give said instructions in order to preserve that issue for appellate review. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 577, 579 (Fla. 1986); White v. State, 446 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 1984); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978); Brown v. State, 124 So.2d 481, 483-484 (Fla. 1960); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d).

In Brown v. State, supra, this court addressed the contemporaneous

objection requirement in the context of lesser-included offense instructions in a first degree murder case and found that:

To summarize our position, we herewith hold that in any trial for first degree murder the accused is entitled to have the jury instructed on all degrees of unlawful homicide including manslaughter and error is committed if he requests such an instruction and is refused. On the other hand, if the accused fails to request such an instruction or fails by timely objection to bring to the attention of the trial judge an error in any such instruction given he cannot urge the error for the first time on appeal.

(emphasis added)

The court there rejected the assertion that "fundamental" error had occurred sufficient to justify reversal in the absence of timely objection noting that such a finding would require a determination that the error asserted reached down "into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." Id. at 484. In <u>Castor</u>, this court reaffirmed the vitality of its contemporaneous objection rule in the context of a jury instruction issue and outlined the rationale for the rule, to-wit:

. . . Where the alleged error is giving or failing to to give a particular jury instruction, we have invariably required the assertion of a timely objection. State, 158 Fla. 853, 30 So.2d 367 (1947); see Williams v. State, 285 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1973). The requirement of a contemporaneous objection is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of a judicial system. It places the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provides him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings. Delay and an unnecessary use of the appellate process result from a failure to cure early that which must be cured eventually.

Id. at 703.

The reasoning behind the contemporaneous objection rule is no less applicable to this case.

In <u>Harris v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, upon which the appellant's argument is based, this court <u>did not</u> reject the well established contemporaneous objection rule or repeal Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d) and its specific requirement that no party may allege as error on appeal the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless a specific objection is raised before the jury retires to consider its verdict. In fact, the <u>Harris</u> court in effect reaffirmed that rule stating that:

. . . This Court has consistently held that, upon a proper request, a trial judge must give jury instructions on necessarily included lesser offenses, that a refusal of such a request constitutes fundamental error when properly preserved for appeal by timely objection under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d), and that the harmless error rule does not apply. See, e.g., Reddick v. State, 394 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1981); State v. Abreau, 363 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1978); State v. Thomas, 362 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 1978); Lomax v. State, 345 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1977).

Id.at 796. (emphasis supplied)

The <u>Harris</u> decision indicates no intent to gut Florida's contemporaneous objection rule or Rule 3.390(d); to the contrary, the opinion clearly concerns itself only with the issue of the propriety of the defendant's waiver of lesser-included offense instructions in that case and not with the separate and distinct issue of preservation of appellate review through timely request or objection. The court's determination, from an expansive reading of <u>Beck v. Alabama</u>, 447 U.S. 625, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980), that a defendant has a procedural due process right to have the jury instructed on necessarily

included lesser offenses in a capital case <u>did nothing to obviate Florida's</u> separate and distinct procedural requirement for appellate review, i.e., the contemporaneous objection rule.

Certainly <u>Beck</u> cannot be read to reach that conclusion given the great pain taken by the majority, in response to Justice Rehnquist's dissent, to point out that <u>Beck</u> raised his challenge to the statutory prohibition of lesser included offense instructions in capital cases, in the state trial court and intermediate appellate court. The majority specifically rejected the assertion that the Alabama Supreme Court had found the issue <u>waived</u> holding that it had also been adequately presented to the Alabama Supreme Court despite the dissent's assertion that the constitutional question was not preserved for review.

Alabama claim in a federal habeas corpus challenge where the state applies its procedural default rule to bar relief because of a lack of objection at the trial court level to the failure to give lesser-included offense instructions. Johnson v. Thigpen, 806 F.2d 1243, 1252 (5th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 107 S.Ct. 1618 (1987); see also, Jones v. Thigpen, 741 F.2d 805, 815 n. 18 (5th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 107 S.Ct. 1292 (1987) (federal court "inclined to agree with the State" that failure to request lesser-included offense instructions or to object to the failure to give those instructions constituted a state procedural bar to a Beck argument in federal habeas corpus proceeding); Reddix v. Thigpen, 805 F.2d 506, 510 (5th Cir. 1986) (federal habeas relief not procedurally barred on Beck claim because it was not shown that the state court consistently applied its own procedural default rule under the circumstances); Vicker v. Ricketts, 798 F.2d 369, 373 (9th Cir. 1986) (because the state did not argue the failure to include lesser-included

offense instructions and did not object to the failure to give those instructions and because state courts did not invoke their procedural bar, federal habeas court refused to consider a procedural default issue).

The proper request/contemporaneous objection requirement is also applied by federal trial and appellate courts which have likewise held that a defendant is entitled to an instruction on a lesser-included offense if the evidence supports it and if a proper request is made. United States v. Ashby, 771 F.2d 392 (8th Cir. 1985); United States v. Neiss, 684 F.2d 570 (8th Cir. 1982). However, if defense counsel does not request such a charge, the admission is not error. United States v. Seijo, 537 F.2d 694 (2d Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1043, 97 S.Ct. 745 (1977); United States v. Meyers, 443 F.2d 913 (9th Cir. 1971).

b. No "fundamental error" excusing the appellant's failure to object has been demonstrated.

No "fundamental error" rule removing the proper request/contemporaneous objection requirement for preservation of the jury instruction challenge was announced in <u>Harris</u>; to the contrary, the "fundamental error" discussion specifically noted the failure to give <u>requested</u> necessarily included lesser offense instructions and clearly referred only to the per se reversal rule, i.e., that the error was "fundamental" <u>because it could not be harmless</u>. The court noted that such "fundamental error" must still be "properly preserved for appeal by timely objection under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d)..." 438 So.2d at 796. In fact, in each of the cases discussed in <u>Harris</u> in the context of previous efforts by defendants to waive lesser-included offense instructions, it was specifically noted that the refusal to waive such instructions was ". . . of no avail on appeal unless it is

requested and then properly refused at the trial level." <u>Brown v. State</u>, 206 So.2d 377, 384 (Fla. 1968); <u>accord</u>, <u>Williams v. State</u>, 285 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1973); <u>State v. Washington</u>, 268 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1972); <u>Rayner v. State</u>, 273 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1973), after remand, 286 So.2d 604 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973).

The doctrine of fundamental error should be applied in only the rare cases where a jurisdictional error appears or the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application. Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981). In Ray this court held that it was not fundamental error to convict a defendant upon an erroneous lesser-included offense instruction for an uncharged crime if the defendant failed to object to that instruction and, inter alia, defense counsel requested the improper jury charge or relied on that charge as evidenced by his argument to the jury or other affirmative action. In reaching that conclusion, Justices Alderman and Boyd concurred entirely on the basis that in order to preserve for appeal the issue of the giving or failure to give an instruction a defendant must make a timely objection under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d).

The state respectfully submits that under the rationale of <u>Ray</u> no fundamental error can be deemed to have occurred in this cause, if any error in fact occurred, where the failure to give the lesser included offense instructions was the sole result of defense counsel's request and where it is obvious that the appellant raised no objection as an apparent tactical decision to present an "all or nothing" case. The same waiver/contemporaneous objection provision applied in <u>Ray</u> should be applied in this case for if it is not fundamental error to convict a defendant on a crime <u>not charged</u> because of the actions of his attorney it cannot be said that a deprivation of fundamental fairness occurred <u>sub judice</u>. Here, the accused was required, like the state, to comply with the established rules of procedure to assure

both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt or innocence, and his failure to object (indeed, his specific request that no lesser-included offense instructions be given) is a "strong indication" that at the time and under the circumstances the alleged fundamental error was considered neither harmful nor prejudicial. Id.

c. No actual, as opposed to speculative, substantive error has been demonstrated justifying reversal.

As previously noted the fundamentality of the due process right to lesser offense instructions noted in Harris did not change the state's contemporaneous objection requirement. Certainly, if a defendant is refused necessarily lesser-included offense instructions error of fundamental proportions is committed justifying per se reversal under state law without reference to the harmless error rule. However, in this case it has not been established that any error in fact occurred, i.e., the record does not show that lesser-included offense instructions were not withheld at the personal request of Mack, through counsel, after full and complete consideration of the ramifications of that decision. In fact, at the charge conference defense counsel made clear that he had discussed the waiver with his client and that it was Mack's decision to forego lesser offense instructions. The supplemental record prepared after relinquishment of jurisdiction reconstruct the charge conference clearly indicates that Mack and his counsel had discussed the issue and that "Jimmy" wanted to go "all or nothing." (R 999-1000, 1007) Defense counsel's written statement indicated his belief that "he did represent to the court and to the state that he had discussed lesser included offenses with James Mack and, pursuant to that discussion, defense counsel did waive all lesser included offenses" (R 1009-1010). Trial counsel

further noted that he was certain he had discussed the waiver with Mack and that it was Mack's decision (R 1001).

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